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FOREWORD

To many old boys a school’s centennial publication must be
of absorbing interest. Obviously such a pulblication cannal, Feebtd
every anecdote, contest or personal achievement but it should
record sufficient detail to spark off a chain of reminiscences to
stimulate the reader. It appeared as though old boys of this
school would be deprived of this pleasure as no one would aecept
the responsibility of compiling a history of the first one hundred
years of the school. However, Denis Revell, one of that long
line of dedicated masters, accepted the challenge and volunteered
to perform this task. We are all most grateful to him for his
generous gesture and for the prompt and efficient way he set
about sifting and collating the records, board minutes and all
material relevant to the history of the school. Whenever Denis
Revell undertook a task he always saw it completed and
completed with credit to the school. So it is with this publication.

D. P. CAIRD,

Headmaster.



PREFACE

As far back as 1944 a committee consisting of Messrs W. A.
Armour, W. T. Foster and T. H. Ringland was set up by the
Old Boys’ Association “to go carefully into the matter of
bringing up-to-date the Historical Sketch of the School which
was brought out in 1922”. It was this committee which was
responsible for Parts I and II of the 75th Anniversary 1872-
1947 Jubilee Booklet published in time for the celebrations in
August 1947. At a Centennial Planning Committee meeting on
1st May 1972, Mr P. Hurst outlined costs for printing the 75th
Jubilee Historical publication brought up-to-date to cover the
previous 25 years.

It was hoped that the survey could have been completed
before the Centennial Celebrations in June 1972 but at the
time there was no one available who was prepared or able to
give the time needed for the research necessary for such a
project.

At an Old Boys’ Association committee meeting, chaired by
the President Mr D. A. Paxie, in February 1975, it was
resolved to make a further attempt to find someone to bring
the historical sketch up-to-date. Several persons were
approached, including Mrs K. Mooney who had already written
historical surveys of the Roman Catholic Church in Napier
and the Hawke’s Bay County Council, but no one was prepared

to accept the assignment.

Therefore, having recently retired from the staff of the
school and having some interest in its history I gave in to the
persuasive ways of certain members of the committee to
attempt the project.

Part III, like the other two parts, does not pretend to be a
complete history of the school. Such a history documenting in
detail would be too ambitious an effort and would certainly be
beyond the financial capabilities of the Old Boys’ Association
who have taken responsibility for publication. Many Old Boys
may be disappointed with non inclusion of incidents and trends
which they may have considered important.

I sincerely hope that what has been written will be read and
appreciated. I believe it to be a faithful and accurate record of
the history of “The Best School of All” up to and including the
Centennial Celebrations during Queen’s Birthday week-end
1972.

I must acknowledge the help given to me by Mr B. Geddis of
the “Daily Telegraph” for giving me access to the newspaper
library; by Mr T. H. Johnson, Secretary of the Napier Higl
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Schools’ Board who made Board minutes and other material
freely available; by members of the school staff, both past and
present, for their advice and suggestions; by Mr J. N. Caradus
for helping to bring the appendices of the 1947 booklet up-to-
date thus saving me hours of work; by past editors of Scindian
who had recorded most faithfully much of the history of the
school by their accurate and detailed accounts of events and
trends of their time; by Mr D. P. Caird for his interest and
help in my research; by Mr Martin Yeoman who for so many
years has been the leading light in the Crusader Movement at
the school for his notes on the Crusaders, and last but not
least by many Old Boys of the school who have been most
helpful when I have sought information.

D. G. REVELL



PART 1

FOREWORD

IT SPEAKS WELL for the early settlers in the Ahuriri
district that as soon as the site of the town of Napier was laid
out measures were taken to provide a school. In 1852 Mr
Donald McLean, Native Lands Commissioner for the
Government, acquired several large blocks of land from the
natives. These areas included the site of Napier, or Ahuriri as
then called, which was soon after laid out and the proposed
streets named by Alfred Domett, who had arrived with his
family in 1854. The first sale of sections took place in 1855,
those on the hills fetching about £5 an acre and those on the
flats about £5 a quarter-acre. In the same year (1855) the port
was declared a port of entry, Mr Catchpool, who arrived in
1857, being the first Government officer to take up his
residence. Captain Curling was the first Resident Magistrate to
follow Donald McLean. As will be seen, these three gentlemen
became identified with the establishment and control of
Napier’s first school.

It is common knowledge that the town was called Napier
in honour of Sir Charles Napier, the hero of Scinde. What has
come to be known as Scinde Island was first called Gough
Island. In his book “Contributions to the Early History of New
Zealand”, Dr Hocken states that it was Governor-Colonel
Thomas Gore-Browne who suggested the name of Napier. But
he did not take office until near the end of 1855, and unless
the name Ahuriri was retained for the township till after its
survey by Domett, then it would seem that Domett himself
named the town as well as the streets.

The Napier Boys’ High School became, as it still is, the
principal secondary school for the whole Province of Hawke’s
Bay. Among its pupils may be reckoned many who have in no
small measure been responsible for the growth and prosperity
of the Province; also many who have gained eminence in other
parts of the Dominion and even in the affairs of the Empire as
a whole. The best contribution, however, which the school has
made has been to turn out ordinary citizens imbued with a
spirit of uprightness, responsibility, service and a faith that the
good and the true will prevail.

It is a misfortune that there was seemingly no attempt to
make and preserve a record of the early days of the school.
Even between the years 1874 and 1882 what records are extant
have evidently been compiled in a haphazard and imperfect
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manner. Hence one has had to search in other directions for
information, many weary hours being spent on investigations
more often than not quite fruitless.

The disastrous earthquake of 1931 was responsible for the
loss of many of the records that had been preserved. All
minute books and documents belonging to the Napier High
School Board were burnt in the fire following the earthquake,
thus eliminating a very useful source of information. Then,
too, within the last three or four years have passed away quite
a number of old residents who could have made a valuable
contribution to this investigation, but who, unfortunately, were
not approached soon enough; the consequence has been that
the main sources of information have been extant files of the
“Hawke’s Bay Herald”, which commenced publication in 1857,
the “Centennial History of Hawke’s Bay”, copies of the school
magazine “The Scindian”, perusal of certain Church
documents, etc., and interviews with various gentlemen who
had some knowledge of the school in the years before 1884.

August, 1947. W. A. ARMOUR.



A — EARLY HISTORY

The Period 1855-1858

IN TRACING the now obscure
origin of our school, it is appropriate
to begin with Napier’s first school-
master, Mr (later the Rev.) William
Marshall. Though better known as
the originator and first headmaster
of the Napier Grammar School,
established in 1867, he was certainly
. the founder of the first school erected

Rev. William Marshall in Napier, and the one that proved to
Napier’s first school master be the forerunner of the present
Boys’ High School.

Early in 1855, the first year of Napigr’g exis'tence as a
township, there was opened a subscription .hst heagigd
“Subscription to Erect a School House at Port Napier, Ahuriri”,
and promises of support were received from many people
outside the infant township, among others from Bishop Selwyn
and Alfred Domett. Mr William Marshall, who was then
taking pupils at Castlepoint, and who had previously been at
Wellington, was induced to come to Napier, arriving that year
with some of his pupils before the school was built. He was
active in securing subscriptions for the building, which cost
some £200, and he actually advanced the £10 needed to
purchase the site. His first choice was the land somewhere in
the vicinity of where the Masonic Hotel now stands; but Mr
Alfred Domett, the Crown Lands Commissioner, would not
give consent, and so he selected the two sections totalling half
an acre on the corner of Hastings and Tennyson Streets, which
became known later as Newton’s Corner, and still later as
Bryant’s Corner. This area comprises that land extending from
Burts’ Furnishing Coy. in Hastings Street to McGlashan’s Ltd.,
in Tennyson Street, and is still an endowment of the Napier
High School Board of Governors. At that time the township
consisted mainly of Daniel Munn’s Hotel (the Royal Hotel of
today in Carlyle Street) with a few other houses and stores in
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the neighbourhood. The section acquired was therefore situated
on what was thought to be an out-of-the-way corner of the
island, where it was considered boys could pursue studies and
sports with greater advantage to themselves and less
annoyance to the public than in a more populous
neighbourhood. A schoolhouse was erected and Mr Marshall
became the Headmaster. With Mrs Marshall he carried on the
school for three years (1855-1858), deep regret being expressed
“when circumstances induced them to withdraw from a sphere
in which they conferred a substantial benefit on the youth of
the recently founded settlement”. Mr Marshall then became
tutor for a period in the Te Pohue district to the children pf
Donald McLean. This period of his life is commemorated in
Marshall’s Crossing on the Rissington-Te Pohue road.

The Period 1859-1862

Between 1859 and 1862 there seem to have been periods
when the school was without a teacher, and consequently the
building fell into some disrepair, though it was constantly used
for meetings and religious services. Towards the end of 1859
Mr James Mackie was appointed teacher, but does not appear
to have continued long in the post, being succeeded by _Mr
Robert Thompson, who in turn was followed by Mr William
Smith, who commenced duties about the middle of 1860, and on
whose appointment the hope was expressed that there would
no longer be an empty schoolhouse to be a reproach to the
town. The total population (European) of Napier at this date
was T43.

The disastrous fire of 3rd April, 1862, which totally
destroyed the school after having demolished many other
buildings, was the first of many misfortunes impeding the
progress and development of the school. As it was totally
uninsured and as there were no funds available for its
replacement, the old Napier School became defunct and
remained so for several years.

The Rev. William Marshall

It is appropriate here to follow briefly the career of Mr
William Marshall. He returned to Napier in 1863 and
established what he called an Academy for Young Gentlemen.
On a site of some 7% acres of Church land situated on Napier
Terrace in the vicinity of the present Napier Central School,
he then built commodious buildings with adequate classrooms,
bedrooms, etc. The buildings were completed in 1864 and his
school was transferred there, though the title “Napier
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Grammar School” was not bestowed until 1867. Mr Marshall
conducted this school until 1872, when he intimated his
intention of retiring from school-teaching after engaging in the
occupation for 25 years. His first intention was to return to
England, but instead he took orders, being ordained as a
deacon of St John’s Church, Napier, on 22nd December, 1872,
and as a priest on 12th March, 1873. It was proposed that he be
stationed at Norsewood to take the spiritual supervision of
emigrants; but this plan was changed, and he was appointed to
the cure at Havelock and Clive. It is understood that he
resigned in 1878 owing to bad health and went to Australia.
Interesting oil portraits of Mr and Mrs Marshall are to be seen
In  the Deputy-Mayor’s room in the Napier Municipal
Chambers. In a farewell speech Mr Marshall stated that he
came to Napier when there were only two or three houses and
no graves. He left behind him very warm memories of his
Successful though self-sacrificing efforts in the cause of
education. It is very doubtful if he was ever recouped for the
Numerous monetary advances he made on many occasions.

Napier Grammar School

That this prosperous school, filling as it did, an educational
Need in the growing town, should not cease to exist a number
Oof prominent residents and settlers formed themselves into a
Committee to sub-lease the land, which was Church property,
from Mr Marshall, purchase the buildings and furniture, and

Napier Grammar School, 1867
(on the site of Napier Central School)
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promote a company to carry on the school. Thus was estab-
lished the Napier Grammar School Proprietary Company with
a capital of some £1500. Considerable difficulty was encoun-
tered in completing arrangements for taking over the school,
but eventually a headmaster was advertised for, it being deter-
mined that the school should be of equal standing to Nelson
College or the Dunedin High School, which even then had
become renowned throughout the Colony. The successful appli-
cant was Mr Joseph Mackay, M. A. (Aberdeen), an assistant on
the staff of Nelson College. However, the Governors of that
college would not agree to release him, and so the post was
offered to and accepted by the Rev. G. M. D’Arcy Irvine, M. A.
(Oxon and Dublin), who some eighteen months before had
been brought from England to be Vicar of Waipukurau. Mr
Irvine commenced duties in 1873. It may be mentior_led In pas-
sing that Mr Joseph Mackay did not suffer by his inability to
accept the headmastership of the Grammar School, because he
became headmaster of Wellington College in 1880, continuing
in that office until 1890. The Grammar School for many years
had a successful career, attaining a standard of scholarship
not possible under Mr Marshall. But its fortunes somewhat
declined, and so Mr Irvine accepted an important cure in the
diocese of Goulburn, New South Wales, at the end of 1879 or
early in 1880.

Irvine was a much better educated man than Marshall,
though he was very eccentric and a real “wild Irishman.” He
used constantly to march up and down his schoolroom declaim-
Ing, “Rome was not built in a day.” Much loved and respected
by the boys, he had the power of instilling a love of learning,
and there is no doubt that the educational standard of his
school was comparable with that of the leading schools of the
Colony, and probably considerably in advance of that of Napier
Boys’ High School in its earlier stages. Mr Irvine had a large
family of five sons and three daughters; but Mr Marshall had
no children.

As this Grammar School became the rival of the Napier
Boys’ High School in games and school work during
the Rev. D’Arcy Irvine’s headmastership, and as there was
often an interchange of pupils between the two schools, it will
not be inappropriate to give a brief account of the later for-
tunes of this school. The building may or may not have stood
idle for some time, but eventually it became occupied by Mr
W. Gray, who, with Mr Monckton, had started another grammar
school in Harvey Road in a house constructed partly of timber
taken from the old St John’s Church which stood in Browning
Street opposite the present Cathedral Church. Mr Gray held
his classes in the big schoolroom of the Grammar School on
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Napier Terrace, the boarders being housed in Finnis Lane
where the St Mary’s Ward, annexe of the Hospital, is now
situated. For a period, too, he also kept school boarders in the
house recently occupied by the late H. B. Lusk, Esq. When Mr
Monckton went to Wanganui, Mr Paterson joined the staff. Mr
Gray went to Hastings in 1902 to take over the Heretaunga
School, then situated where the Nelson Park sports ground
now stands. He had bought the school from Mr John A.
Fraser, who in turn had bought it from the widow of the
founder, Mr Wm. Rainbow, father of the present Mayor of
Hastings. The big schoolroom was then used as a school kept
by Mr and Mrs Shepherd, and then as a children’s school by
Miss Thornton, sister of Mr J. Thornton, for 34 years Head-
master of Te Aute College. The other parts of the school were
used as a private residence. After the 1914-1918 War and the
loss by fire of the Main School situated in Clive Square, the
Education Department bought from the Church Property Board
the ground on which the Grammar School and other buildings
stood, and built there the Napier Central School. Miss Fanny
Ormond bought the large schoolroom and presented it to the
Church. It was moved to a site on the Ormond estate further
along Napier Terrace, also dedicated to the Church, and is now
known as the Ormond Chapel. It serves as a place of devotion
primarily for the nurses of the Hospital, but also for the Angli-
can residents of the district and the pupils of Hukarere School.

The Presbyterian School Building

The above references to the Napier Grammar School indi-
cate one channel along which the current of educational devel-
opment was moving in early Napier. There is another that
must now be considered because of its bearing on the future
Napier Boys’ High School. The enterprise of the early Presby-
terians in building St. Paul’'s Church in 1861 is matched by
their decision in 1862 to build a Presbyterian School building
and to engage a competent master and mistress from Scotland
to manage the institution. The building was ready for occupa-
tion by November, 1862, and by that time Mr and Mrs Andrew
Thomson had arrived to take charge. The seminary was desig-
nated the Presbyterian Church Training School. Apparently Mr
Andrew Thomson removed from Napier to take charge of the
school at Clyde or Wairoa during 1865, as in 1866 the teacher
in charge of the Presbyterian School was Mr Robert Haswell,
of Glasgow University, the school then becoming known as St
Paul’s Denominational School. Owing, however, to a decline in
the number of pupils, said to be caused by unfair canvassing
by rival institutions, the school was discontinued in 1867. The
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name of Mr William Hudson has sometimes been included in
the list of those conducting a school at St Paul’s, but actually
his school was carried on in the Oddfellows’ Hall at the bottom
of Milton Road, during the years 1867-1868. In July 1868, in
compliance with a very generally expressed wish, Mr John
Stables, an assistant at Mr Marshall’s school, opened an acade-
my in St Paul’s Schoolroom, and continued with much success
until his appointment to a more lucrative teaching post in
Dunedin in 1868. Then in 1870 Mr A. Grant, of Otahuhu,
Auckland, was invited to come to Napier to open an undeno-
minational school, at St Paul’s which he called the Napier
Boys’ School, and which he carried on until 1873.

Early Headmasters

. It has become customary to regard the various schools held
in St Paul’s Schoolroom as stages in the development of the
present Napier Boys’ High School. There does not, however,
appear to be clear evidence in support of this view, though in
1ssues of “The Scindian” and elsewhere Messrs Thomson, Has-
well, Stables and Grant have often been mentioned as among
the school’s early headmasters. Certainly Mr Andrew Thomson
Wwas appointed to come from Scotland to Napier to manage a
Presbyterian Church School unconnected with the original
school founded by Mr Marshall. Even before the destruction by
fire of the first schoolhouse (3rd April, 1862), a decision had
been reached to build a handsome structure for school pur-
poses on the Presbyterian Church property and import a
‘s‘choolrnaster, as may be gathered from a perusal of the
Hawke’s Bay Herald” of date 29th April, 1862. The building
was ready for use by November of the same year, and soon
after Mr Andrew Thomson commenced duties. During his
headmastership the school was always referred to as the
Pres_byterian Church School, the Presbyterian Training School,
or simply as the Presbyterian School. The position, therefore,
seems to be that this and other schools later established in the
Presbyterian Schoolroom by Messrs Haswell, Stables and Grant
were regarded as substitutes for the school which would have
carried on in the original schoolhouse had it not been burnt.
Over and above all this, it should be noticed that these schools
were almost entirely one-teacher schools, the curriculum only
occasionally including more than primary subjects.

It may be here stated that under the Provincial Education
Act, schools were divided into two classes, Public or Common
Schools'a.nd Private or Denominational Schools. The former
were eligible for grants for buildings, furniture, repairs, etc., as
well as for tuition, and the latter for tuition only, provided
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religious instruction was not given during the minimum four
hours daily of school. All schools, of course, charged fees, but
for day pupils of schools receiving Government aid the maxi-
mum fee allowed was two shillings per week. The amount paid
for tuition by the Act was about seven shillings per week per
pupil on average attendance. Later this rose to about ten shill-
ings weekly, and besides some schools, especially country
schools, were granted an annual bonus of £50 to enable them to
carry on. The stipends of the teachers in the schools conducted
in the Presbyterian Schoolroom would probably be derived
mainly from fees and the Provincial Government tuition grant.
Nothing could have come from the funds of the Napier School
Trust to be considered presently, since these funds were in
Chancery during almost the whole period. This is the reason
why it may be erroneous to consider the above four worthy
gentlemen strictly as former headmasters of Napier Boys’ High
School.

Napier School Trust

Let us return now to follow the fortunes of the original
Napier School. As has been stated, the schoolhouse was des-
troyed by fire in 1862. The committee of the subscribers found
themselves without any mongy. without a clear title to the
land, and without being able to get any assistance from the
Provincial Council. The difficulty with regard to the title was
eventually solved, but without the prospect of Government as-
sistance there was little prospect of re-establishing the school.
Most of the subscribers were insistent that religious instruction
should form an integral portion of the school curriculum if and
when the school should be rebuilt, hence a grant-in-aid was
contrary to Provincial law. The members of committee were
not unanimous on this point. and besides there seemed no
immediate prospect of rebuilding, as other institutions were
filling fairly well the educational needs of the community. The
section of land was idle, bringing in no revenue: but as it was
purchased for educational purposes the committee representing
the subscribers could not part with it except with the unani-
mous consent of the original and subsequent subscribers.
These, of course, could not all be brought together in order to
obtain a unanimous decision, and moreover, the Education Act
required the setting up of a properly constituted Board of
Trustees. The Provincial Solicitor ruled that as the Trust was
for educational purposes the Trustees could not part with their
Trust until placed in a legal position to do so. The position
then seemed to be that a new school could not be built for lack
of funds, nor could the land be sold in order to provide for
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educational needs in some other way. This position seemed to
be aggravated by the apathetic attitude of the townspeople.
Thus it came to pass that the Trust was necessarily inactive for
some years, Mr James Anderson, Mr Catchpool, Collector of
Customs, and Captain Curling, R.M., being delegated to look
after its interests, which they did in a manner worthy of com-
mendation.

First they leased the corner portion of the area to Messrs
Newton, Irvine & Co., merchants, who erected a warehouse
thereon; and in December, 1866, the leases of the two remain-
ing sections were sold, section A, with frontage to Hastings
Street, at 25/- per foot; and section B, with frontage to Tenny-

son Street, at 20/- per foot, the term of the leases being 21
years.

(On this page will be found a copy of the plan as it
appeared in the advertisement at that time.)

By 1869 the accumlated funds derived from these leases
amounted to £850, and besides, an annual rental of £235 was
being received. Towards the end of 1870, on the advice of Mr
Justice Johnston, a friendly Supreme Court suit was filed
between the subscribers and trustees of the Napier School
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Trust Fund in order to obtain legal sanction for some scheme
for the application of the funds. Mr Justice Johnston advised
that if new trustees were appointed to whom the old trustees
would be prepared to make a deed of conveyance of land and
property, and if a draft scheme relative to regulations and
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management of a school to be called the Napier School were
duly advertised, giving time to objectors to lodge any
complaints, then a day would be appointed by the Court to
settle the scheme. This direction was followed, and at length,
by decree of the Court, the scheme for the establishment of
the said school was settled and approved.

But long before this settlement was reached it was realised
that a school could not now be built on the original site, since
the land was now leased; and besides, with the opening up of
Shakespeare Road, the area was destined to be right in the
midst of the business part of the town. However, under the
provisions of the Napier School Act, 1870, the Provincial
Council agreed to set aside portion of the Suburban Section 90
lying between Coote Road and Clyde Road as a site for a
school, the area of land being 2 acres, 2 roods, 23 perches — a
ridiculously small amount according to present-day needs, but
then considered ample. Approval to this arrangement was
granted by decree of the Supreme Court on 21st October, 1872.
This is the date from which the foundation of the present
Boys’ High School has been reckoned — a date actually
premature by two years. This new property was vested in nine
Trustees, viz., the Superintendent of the Province (Hon. J. D.
Ormond), Rev. John Townsend, Rev. Dr Sidey, Messrs
Catchpoole, Burke, Tiffen, Sealy, Ferard and James Anderson.
Out of the £1000 now accumulated, the Trustees allocated £800
for a schoolhouse and dwelling-house, and proposed to make
contributions from the annual revenue towards salaries and
upkeep. The weekly school fees were not to exceed two
shillings, while the annual boarding fees were fixed at £30.

Actually total costs involved in building this school amounted
to £1400.

The School On The Hill

A commencement was made with the erection of buildings
during 1873, and Mr A. P. Tennent, of the Taradale School,
having accepted the interim mastership, the Napier Trust
School was advertised to open on Monday, 13th October, in
temporary premises in a warehouse belonging to Mr Newtor’x in
Carlyle Street. In November, 1873, the Rev. John Campbell.
Rector of the High School. Christchurch, was appointed
H_eadmaster. Health reasons induced him to seek a more genial
climate, and, besides, his brother, Mr Hugh Campbell, was a
Napier business man. He arrived on Monday, 19th J‘anuary
1874,_3nd on the same day commenced his s’cholastic duties’
§t111 in temporary quarters. It was on Monday, 10th August’
1874, that the school was opened in the new bL{ildings on thé
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hill, with Mr John Ingleton as assistant master, and so perhaps
1874, rather than 1872, should be regarded as the year of
foundation of the Napier Boys’ High School. This designation
of the school was actually not adopted until 1882, it being
known up to then as the Napier Boys’ Trust School. Mr and
Mrs Ingleton transferred in 1875 to the old Hukarere School
which was completed at the beginning of that year, the former
as teacher and the latter as matron. Mrs Ingleton also proved
to be a very good teacher. They resigned in August, 1876.

Napier Boys’ High School, 1874



B — HEADMASTERSHIP OF Rev. JOHN
CAMPBELL (1874-1884)

There is some confusion and un-
certainty about the roll number of
the school when Mr Campbell
assumed duties as Headmaster at the
beginning of 1874. In 1872 Mr Wm.
Colenso, Inspector of Schools, report-
ed to the Provincial Council that the
roll of the Boys’ High School was 69;
and for the year 1873 he stated that
there were 90 on the roll, but that
the average attendance was 70. He
is reported to have stated that at the
time the school was removed in 1874
from Clive Square to the commodious

William Colenso schoolhouse erected in Coote Road,
Inspector of Schools the roll number was 133. However,
the “Hawke’s Bay Herald” of 25th

September, 1873, reported that on the previous day, 24th
September, Mr Colenso examined 67 pupils of the Napier Boys’
School. This last-mentioned figure agrees with the statement
for the same year that the average attendance was 70. But one
must suspect the accuracy of the report that there was a rise
in roll numbers from 70 or even 90 in 1873 to 133 by August,
1874, unless the attraction of a new school building and the
closing down of several private educational institutions provide
the explanation. Besides, Mr Campbell did not appear to have
had more than one or two assistant masters under him at any
time during his regime — a number quite insufficient to
supply the teaching required for 133 pupils at various stages o
progress. Yet for the year 1875 Mr Wm. Colenso again is
reported to have informed the Superintendent of the Province
that there were 142 boys on the roll (report submitted June,
1876) and that much more room was sadly wanted. If the
figures given are accurate, then the few teachers on the staff
must have had a herculean task. But how account for a big
decline in the roll number after 1877? One explanation would
be that the passing of the 1877 Education Act provided free
education for all children from the age of five years. Naturally,
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then, as the Napier Boys’ Trust School charged fees and was
filled largely by pupils at the primary stage, these would
remove to the free primary schools provided under the Act,
and future enrolments as a rule would be made only by
pupils who had reached the secondary stage of education.

Mr Colenso mentioned in his report that from its
commencement it steadily progressed in numbers, and the
scholars generally were making good improvement. It was a
flourishing and highly useful school.

So far as has been ascertained, Mr Campbell had as
assistant masters at various times, in addition to Mr John
Ingleton already mentioned, Mr F. Brittain, who later joined
the Public Service, Mr J. A. Smith, later headmaster of the
Hastings District School, Mr Morton, later inspector of schools
under the Education Department, and Mr Stanley, who later
became a merchant in the South Island. Others who were on
the staff at some time or other during this period were Messrs
Oldfield, Thompson and Goldsmith.

The original approach to the school was via Coote Road, and
not till much later did Clyde Road become the more popular
means of access. The original building, constructed in wood,
had rather the appearance of a dwelling-house than of a
school, with its high-pitched roof, attic windows, a verandah
running along the front of the ground floor, and old-fashioned
fireplaces. Even from the very beginning it must have been too
small to serve the dual purpose of a day and boarding school.
A small swimming bath for the boarders was provided adjacent
to a small separate building on what was known as the lower
playground, this building afterwards becoming an armoury.
Thlela playground then and for many years was nothing but a
gully.

From 1874 to 1877, as has already been suggested, the
school was a primary rather than a secondary school, though
some secondary subjects were taught. The passing of the 1877
Education Act brought in free compulsory and secular
education for the Colony when public schools for primary
education were established by the Government throughout the
country. It was from this date that the school became really a

secondary or high school, and necessarily the number of pupils
suffered a reduction.

The Duxship of the school was instituted in this year.

In the year 1882 the school was incorporated by Act of
Parliament. This means that it had assigned to it certain
Government endowments and came under the control of the
Department of Education. Early issues of “The Scindian”
always bore this superscription in the front page: “Opened
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1872. Incorporated by Act of Parliament 1882”7 This last-
mentioned date once stood out in bold lettering on the main
gable of the old school.

It is interesting to note that on 30th March, 1878, the
school played its first cricket match. This was against the
Napier Grammar School on the Grammar School grounds. The
result was a narrow with for the High School, the scores being:
— High School, 41 and 76 runs; Grammar School, 80 and 32
runs. A good account of the game is to be found in the
December “Scindian” of 1898.

When Mr Campbell retired in 1884 he went to reside at
Ponsonby, Auckland, where he occupied himself with some
private tuition and with setting and marking certain
examination papers for the Education Department. When he
first came to New Zealand in 1863, he was appointed to the
charge of the Presbyterian Church at Riwaka, Nelson. In 1866
he was appointed to the pastoral charge of a large district in
Canterbury, his parish extending over a wide area including
Prebbleton, Lincoln, South Selwyn, Leeston and Southbridge.
He often rode or drove as much as 48 miles on Sundays.
Severe rheumatism compelled him to relinquish this charge, so
he accepted the appointment of Rector of the High School at
Christchurch, established in connection wit hthe Presbyterian
Church, and it was from here that he came to the Napier
Trust School. He had nc children, but had a splendid help-
meet in his wife and her sister, Miss Black, who endeared
themselves to the boarders. The Rev. John Campbell died in
Auckland at the age of 73 years.

Disappointment is felt by anyone who peruses the early

pages of the school register of attendance, for with one
exception (C. H. Cato, admitted first term, 1876) there is no
record of pupils who attended before the year 1880. It is now
too late to compile a list of all pupils who attended between
the years 1874 and 1880; but Mr Douglas Walker, of Wairoa,
Mr J. F. Langley, of Taradale, and others who were pupils
during that period have been able to supply some names for
those years along with others unrecorded for the next decade.
On page 45 of “The Scindian” for August 1915, is given a list of
:c‘he flrst‘160 entries in the school admission register. Also in
The Scindian” for November, 1925, pages 128-131, will be
found an alphabetical list containing 99 names not to be found
in the official school register. This list, with some additions,
will be found in the appendix.

At the beginning of 1884, the last year of the Rev. John

Campbell’s headmastership, the Girls’ High School was opened

Ilindgr Miss M. E. G. Hewitt, on the adjacent property on Clyde
oad.
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Before passing on to the next period, a word or two should
be written about fees. The school continued for many years to
charge fees for all pupils. The 1877 Education Act came into
operation in Hawke’s Bay at the beginning of 1878; but the
Trustees of the Napier Boys’ Trust School decided to carry on
the school apart from the Government system and advertised
accordingly, stating that the school fee for day pupils would be
£2/2/- per quarter. The reason for this decision was that they
feared that under the Government system the endowment
(viz., Newton’s Corner) would be lost. Possibly this view was
erroneous, since even then a private endowment could not be
taken over by the Government without very special legislation.
It is interesting to surmise what might have happened if the
Trustees had fallen into line with the Government scheme.
Possibly then the school might have developed with greater
rapidity and have possessed better quarters, a larger area of
ground, and so acquired much greater prominence and
eminence in the educational system of the North Island. Yet,
as will be seen later, the Government did for a period assume
ownership of the private endowment until the Board of
Governors discovered it had the right to sole control.

C - THE PERIOD 1885-1902

The School Under Mr Neil Heath (1885-1887)

It is unfortunate that available records give little
information regarding the school during the headmastership of
Mr Heath, successor to the Rev. John Campbell. It was on 8th
September, 1884, that he received his appointment. He came
from Auckland, being on the staff there of the Girls’ High
School, afterwards incorporated with Auckland Grammar
School. After a comparatively brief tenure of office he resigned
his position in October, 1887, and left at the end of that year.
He was a brilliant teacher who took a lively interest in
“technical and practical subjects.” An Old Boy, writing of him
in 1904, said: “He was a thorough gentleman, a scholar, and a
sportsman in the best sense of the term, and one who was
respected by all and liked by most of those who knew him.
When he came to Napier he brought down several boys with
him from Auckland.” The names of these boys are Herrold (2),
Ross, Hoffman, Hardy, Owen, Taylor, Edson, Gillies and
Buddle. It was during 1884 that the Governors received
permission from the Government to sell the 10,000 acres of
Wairoa lands (a school endowment) at an upset value of
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£10,000. At the times these lands were bringing in no revenue,
were a source of continual trouble, and apparently showed
little possibility of improvement. What seems today to have
been an indefensible action on the part of the Governors was
apparently at the time deemed a prudent means to obtain
relief from pressing financial difficulties and to provide funds
for essential school requirements. It should be remembered
that in those days there was no freezing industry to increase
the value of land and farm products. The sale of the property
having been effected, the Board decided on 24th November
1884, to call for tenders for a new building for the residence of
the headmaster and boarders — Scinde House on Clyde Road.

Scinde House 1894

Mr R. Lamb was the architect for this building, as also for the
Girls’ High School to be built about the same time. The cost of
the new hostel was about £3000. It was a lofty, pretentious
wooden building of three storeys plus attics, and from the time
of its erection until its demolition in 1927 was a landmark on
the hill of Napier. The cost today of such a building would
probably exceed £12,000. It had many good features, having
adequate dormitory space for about fifty boarders, with
commodious kitchens, dining hall, quarters for resident
teachers and domestic staff, besides a separate wing for
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the headmaster and family. But the stairways were narrow, and
those in charge lived in constant fear of the fire hazards since
the kitchen was right in the middle of the ground floor, and for
many years naked gas jets provided the means of artificial
lighting. Unremitting vigilance was necessary at all times tc
ensure the safety of those inhabiting the building. The narrow,
steep stairways, the fire danger, and the paucity of the
furnishings were the main drawbacks; but as the building had
a very sunny aspect and excellent drainage, it was particularly
healthy and a pleasant place in which to dwell.

Mr Heath had as his first assistant Mr Morton, who was
succeeded in February, 1886, by Mr William Wood, also from
Auckland, where he had been on the staff of the Girls’ High
School with Mr Heath. Before coming to New Zealand, Mr
Wood had taken classes at Edinburgh University, being a
friend and contemporary there of the late Professor Gilray, who
for long occupied the Chair of English at Otago University. He
had also gained teaching experience at Lancing College, Kent,
and Dulwich House School, South London. Mr Wood served
for two years (1886-1887) as first assistant master before he
became Headmaster. He was provided with living quarters
in the school building, the residential portion having become
vacant because of the transfer of the Headmaster and boarders
to the new hostel on Clyde Road.

It_ was unfortunate that a man of such fine teaching
capacity as Mr Heath was compelled to resign his position after

so brief a tenure of office. Not long after this his life came to
an untimely end.

The School Under Mr William Wood (1888-1902)

It was at the beginning of 1888 that Mr William Wood
entered on his term as Headmaster of the school and
transferred his quarters to the new hostel building.

In the previous year a Gymnastic Club had been formed in
the town, and a proposition was made to the Board of
Governors to lease a portion of the school grounds contiguous
to Clyde Road so that a gymnasium might be erected thereon.
The apphcajzlop was granted and the building erected in 1888.
After .floux"ls_hlng. for a short time only, the club got into
financial difficulties and applied to the Board to take over the
building. This was done, and so a very valuable asset at very
little cost came into the possession of the Board. And what a
useful asset this proved to be! It gave the school a long desired
gymnasium fairly well equipped with apparatus, and provided
a building used for an abundance of purposes, such as physical
training, concerts, dances, meetings and so on. Though altered
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and improved in many respects, the building is still serving a
useful purpose today as the Assembly Hall for the Girls’ High
School. Attached to it all along one side was constructed a
workshop for the teaching of carpentry, and at the back was
later added an addition to serve the dual purpose of a stage or
platform and a classroom for the Junior Department.

It was on 1st May, 1895, that the first number of the school
magazine, “The Scindian”, was issued. It was chiefly due to ’qhe
advice and assistance of the Headmaster and Mr Henry Hill,
B.A., that the little paper was published. The first editor was
C. E. Fox, who afterwards had a brilliant University career,
and who for a time became a member of the teaching staff.
Later he became a well-known figure in the Melanesian
Mission of the Church of England, gaining high honours for
his philological researches and receiving the degree of Doctor
of Literature. Members of staff at different times under Mr
Wood and Mr Heath were Messrs Morris, Pinckney, Hoddinott,
Robinson, R. E. Rudman, J. Dakin, Traill, Severne and Polson,
the last-mentioned arriving in 1896 and holding the post of
first assistant master for the next seven years. Miss
Schnackenberg was employed to teach younger pupils, Mr
Bourgeois was French master, Mr Dickens gave violin and Mr
Spackman, father of Mr Roy Spackman, pianoforte lessons.

School matrons during this period included Miss Roy, Mrs
Ford and Miss Kerr.

Mr Wood held the rank of Lieut.-Colonel in the Volunteer
military defence scheme of New Zealand. He created the cadet
corps, which developed to become renowned for its high state
of efficiency. The cadets first had a grey uniform and
afterwards a naval rig. The first officers of the cadets were:—
Captain, Mr William Wood; First Lieutenant, Charles Spencer;
Sergeant, Tom Richardson, followed by W. G. Wood. Cadet
camps were held at Petane, Omaranui, and Palmerston North.
At that time the old Snider carbine was used by the infantry;
but the cadets were not without some artillery training, for
they used to fire at a target out at sea from the old muzzle-
loading cannon now standing outside the Drill Hall at the foot
of Coote Road. A well-remembered incident took place at the
Palmerston North camp. An old Wellington officer, Major
Quick, was put in charge of the night alarm. He forgot to
remove a wooden block from the muzzle of the cannon (put
there to keep out the rain) and fired the gun as an alarm. The
block went through two tents of the Wellington Navals
fortunately without damage to anyone.

Swimming was not neglected. Once a week the boys used
to go to the White Swan swimming baths at the Swan Brewery
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in Hastings Street, where many learnt to swim. At the far end
of Carlyle Street was the Recreation Ground, where all games
were played and the annual athletic sports held. The short cut
to this ground from the school was by way of Harvey Road
steps from Sealy Road, along to Napier Terrace and down
Hitchings Gully, now Faraday Street — quite a long way. This
route is used today by some pupils attending the Intermediate
School.

During 1896 the playground area was levelled out at a cost
of £500, thus providing about one acre of level land for games.
Towards the lower end a high retaining wall in concrete was
constructed, leaving room below it for another smaller portion
of level ground where even before there was some provision
for tennis and fives.

The School with new Science Room, 1908.

During 1898 alterations and improvements were made to
the school premises. Chief of these was the erection of a small
science laboratory between the main building and a detached
classroom then occupied by the most junior pupils. At one end
of this detached room was constructed a sliding partition,
which when pulled up, exposed to view a demonstration bench
on which experiments were carried out. It was not until some
years later that more adequate provision was made for science
teaching.

A very important event took place in the Headmaster’s
residence on 17th November, 1899, when Mr Wood was
instrumental in founding the Old Boys’ Association. The first
President was Captain Charles Spencer, and the vice-presidents
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were M. Herrold, C. W. Cato and H. D. Bamford. Ihe
committee set up included C. E. Fox, W. G. Wood, H. Goulding,

C. D. Cornford, H. Fannin, J. H. D. Kerr, E. Crossley and G.
White.

Though the number of pupils in 1901 was not more than
60 or 70, indications are clear enough that the period under Mr
Wood’s administration was one of development and progress.
The school was by now firmly launched as a high school with
all its varied activities. Games were well organised and
controlled, while the scholastic standard was good. The poor
salaries offered caused a constant change of masters and failed
to attract qualified teachers prepared to stay for a few years.
The Board of Governors has often been accused of parsimony
in the matter of salaries; but it is only fair to assume that they
did the best they could with funds available. At that time, and
for many years to come, the remuneration offered to teachers
here and elsewhere was quite inadequate. Only in the main
centres was this on a more attractive scale. Hence it was the
tendency of teachers to gravitate to these centres as
opportunity offered, since with larger roll numbers and better
school grants there were better prospects, both from the point
of view of salary and of preferment. Napier Boys’ High School

was one of those schools which suffered from this condition of
affairs.

Naturally the South African War (1899-1902) stirred the
school as it did the country and the whole Empire. When the
call came for volunteers, representatives of the school from
among the Old Boys were not wanting, especially as interest in
military training had been so much encouraged by Mr Wood. It
was impossible to ascertain how many Old Boys joined the
fighting services, but the school list contained 27 names. Three
from this list lost their lives. A memorial plaque was prepared
which is to be found among the Honours Boards in the school
today. Mr Wood himself was among the volunteers for service
overseas, but the authorities decided that his services were
more valuable at his post in the school.

A remarkable achievement by Mr Wood is worth recording.
Mrs Ford, one of his matrons, had a son who was deaf and
dumb. Mr Wood taught this boy to speak and he afterwards
became quite a successful insurance agent.

During the latter portion of his tenure of office, Mr Wood
suffered from ill-health. Yet he carried on his duties with
great efficiency without complaint and with cheerfulness, so
that few knew that he was seldom if ever free from pain. He
died suddenly on Sunday morning, 6th April, 1902, at the early
age of 50 years. The son of a soldier, he had the soldier’s spirit.
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Altogether he spent sixteen years of his life at the school,

during the last twelve of which he was its headmaster. An Old
Boy writing to “The Scindian” said of him: “What a loss to the
School! T don’t think that there was ever a schoolmaster more
beloved by his pupils for his kindness, cheerfulness, and justice
to all.”

D — THE HEADMASTERSHIP of Mr. A. S. M.
POLSON, 1902-1912

In 1895 Mr Polson entered the school as first assistant
master, a position he occupied for six years. On more than one
occasion he was acting-headmaster, and on the death of Mr
Wood he was unanimously selected by the Board to occupy the
position of head of the school. Mr Polson had an excellent
University record and won scholarships amounting in all to
over £400. Before coming to Napier he held teaching posts at
Otago Boys’ High School (three years), Waimate District High
School (four years), and Timaru Boys’ High School before he
resigned. He was responsible for the adoption of the school
crest or coat-of-arms, an adaptation of the Napier family crest
of which a description is to be found in the August number of
the 1904 “Scindian,” or more in detail in the Jubilee number of
the Girls’ High School Magazine.

The growth of the school during the period now under
survey may be gauged from the following figures:

Year Total Roll No. Boarders Junior School

(Inclusive of Junior
School & Boarders)

1902 .. 65 18 15
1903 .. 96 19 15
1904 . . 106 25 23
1905 .. 127 25 18
1906 .. . 131 31 15
1907 ... 143 38 20
1908 . . 145 35 25
1909 .. 153 34 38
1910 .. 152 26 45
1911 ... 165 27 45
1912 .. 139 21 38
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It will be noted that there was some decline in roll
numbers in 1912, a decline that continued during the next
three years and for which it is difficult to find a satisfactory
explanation; but over the whole of the above period the
efficiency of the Headmaster finds its reflection in the growth
of the school. There is, however, another factor which
accelerated this growth. Even before 1900 a certain number of
pupils obtained free tuition by gaining what were known as
Education Board Scholarships; and when early in this century
High School Boards were able to obtain capitation grants from
the Government if they admitted free pupils, most of them
availed themselves of this opportunity and the free place
system soon became established. A result was an increase in
roll number in most secondary schools.

There had always been a Lower or Junior Department in
the school. From its initial number (1895) “The Scindian”
always published an annual prize list, and from this we learn
that the Lower School was operative in 1894 and continued so
up to the time of its abolition in 1924. By 1911 the Junior
School had a quarter of the pupils in the whole school.

Altogether a total of 28 masters at different times served
as assistants on the staff during Mr Polson’s tenure of office,
the first assistant during all that period being Mr E. W.
Andrews, B.A., who had previously been on the staff of
Wanganui Collegiate School. The number of assistants required
to man the school in 1902 was four. By 1906 this number had
increased to five, and by 1912 it was seven. In 1905 Mr Walter
Kerr, M A, joined the staff and continued to be a member of it
until his retirement in 1923. The others remained for a few
years only. A list of all masters for this and the other periods
is to be found elsewhere.

Towards the end of 1902 the boarding department was
enlarged by the addition of the cubicle block to Scinde House.
This addition contained thirteen cubicles for senior boarders, a
resident master’s room, a box room, dark room for
photography, and other conveniences. The cost was about £1000.
During the summer of 1904 further very considerable
alterations were made to the School building. The whole
building was re-roofed and painted. That portion which had
been used first by the Headmaster and then by the first
assistant master as a residence was converted into two large
classrooms each with accommodation for 40 pupils. This
particular alteration meant the abolition of the upstairs portion
so as to give height to the classrooms. As the senior assistant
master was now without a residence, he was instead granted a
monetary allowance to provide his own quarters elsewhere. At
this time the big schoolroom, or Assembly Room as we should
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call it today, occupied that portion of the school nearest to
Coote Road. This was later divided into three classrooms and,
instead, the Assembly Room was provided for by removing the
partition between large classrooms which had been formed
when the residential quarters in the school building were
eliminated.

In 1905 an offer was made to the Board to acquire a
property consisting of a residence and two and a half acres
adjoining the school grounds. Very unfortunately this offer
was rejected by one vote, partly because too great a price was
demanded and partly because it was thought that the school
might before long be moved elsewhere. This additional area
would have been of immense value to the school at that time,
and today would have provided a much needed addition to the
grounds of the Girls’ High School. However, later in the same
year, the Board did purchase one acre of this property at a cost
of £600. This area was soon after occupied by the school tennis
court and the experimental plots of the agricultural pupils.

It was about this time that the Napier South Reclamation
Syndicate was nearing the completion of its plans for
reclaiming the swamp land to the south of the town. Mr
William Nelson, one of the promoters of the scheme, offered to
the Board ten acres of this land situated in the vicinity of
Nelson and McLean Parks as a site for the school. Though Dr T.
C. Moore and later Mr Henry Hill, B.A., in turn urged the
Board to accept this offer, and although Mr Polson
recommended the Board to expend £10,000 on a school to be
built on this land, the offer was rejected by a majority of the
members. As the event has shown, this was a most unfortunate
de;c151on, since there was sufficient land for all school purposes,
with the advantage of contiguity to two large parks, while if
necessary additional land could have been purchased. The
feeling at the time seemed to be that for many years to come
the recently reclaimed land would be unhealthy, besides being
too distant for pupils, the majority of whom lived on the hill or
at Port Ahuriri. In addition, the Board could not see its way
clear to finance the project from its own resources and felt
hopeless of support from the Government.

The school continued to grow in numbers and the Board,
having rejected the project of moving the school elsewhere,
had to depide whether to rebuild the whole school or enlarge
the existing building. The latter alternative having been
decided upon, plans were approved at the end of 1908 for the
erection of a two-storeyed wing between the main building and
the detached classroom — this wing to consist of two
classrooms on the ground floor with chemistry and physics
laboratories on the first floor. This wing, built and equipped at
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a cost of about £1900, provided entirely by the Board of
Governors, was officially opened on 17th November, 1908. All
pupils attending the school between this date and 1926 will
have a vivid recollection of this part of the old school and of
the outside stairway leading to the laboratories upstairs.

The pages of “The Scindian” during these and succeeding
years give a good picture of the healthy development of the
school in scholarship and games. Mr Polson was a man of
energy and ability who believed in hard and thorough work in
which he set a fine example. He won the entire confidence of
both boys and masters and was highly respected in the
community. It was therefore, with feelings of great regret that
the news was received towards the end of 1912 of his
appointment to the position of Principal of Ballarat College,
Victoria, after having given a total of 17 years of faithful
service to the school, during the last eleven of which he was
its headmaster. A very fine tribute to him is to be found on
page 70 of “The Scindian” for December, 1912. He spent a
lengthy period at Ballarat, and on his retirement went to
reside in Melbourne, where he died in 1945.
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E — THE PERIOD 1913-1927

Headmastership of Mr Frank Heaton, M.A., B.Sc. (1913-1915)

The period in the school’s history with which we are n.OVK{
concerned is paralleled in some respects by the perioc
1885—1902. In both of these a brief tenancy of the office of
headmaster was followed by one of much longer duration,
while records seem to suggest a further similarity in that the
brief period in each case seemed static, while the subsequent
longer period was progressive.

gDetI:)ails of the II‘)ollgnumbers of Upper School, Lower School,
and Boarding Department cannot be given, as no record of
these appears to have been preserved. We know th_at there
were in all 145 pupils on the roll when Mr Heaton arrived, and
about 150 when he retired in May, 1915. Particulars of other
aspects of school control and organisation are also meagre. We
know, however, that Mr Heaton had views on education which
differed from those of his predecessors and of most
contemporary headmasters. Chemistry, for ~example, was the
main science subject in most schools, but instead. Mr Heaton
introduced the study of heat, light, and botany. He was alsc
keen on the subject of agriculture, with the consequence that
from his day agriculture has always occupied a prominent
place in the curriculum and may even be considered as the
nucleus of the fine Agricultural Course and School Farm
which today rate so high in the curriculum. Other subjects
which received special attention were drawing, woodwork, and
bookkeeping. Thus we see the tendency to develop in the
school a varied curriculum which later found more definite
expression in the variety of parallel courses provided today.

Early in 1913 there was a transfer in the Cadet Corps from
the naval uniform to khaki, the former, however, still being
retained for a time as the dress uniform. Towards the end of
this year work commenced on the excavation in the grounds of
a range for miniature rifle shooting practices, which were

carried on with great regularity, to the annoyance of
neighbouring residents. This rifle range was officially opened
on 15th May, 1914, while a Museum was established and
Boxing was introduced in the same year.

When Sir James Allen, Minister of Education, visited
Napier during 1914, a deputation from the Board waited upon
him to enlist his support for a grant to build a new school
elsewhere. The Minister gave a promise to have this request
investigated, but nothing resulted because the outbreak of the
first World War in August focused attention elsewhere. and
besides, the Minister relinquished the Education portfolio to
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take over that of Defence. If it is true to state that the school
was stirred by the Boer War, it is certain it was even more
stirred by this great conflagration. Naturally, until the Great
War could be brought to a successful conclusion, all ideas of
improvements to school premises and grounds had to take a
subsidiary place. The part played by the School and Old Bo;lrls
in this great upheaval has been recorded elsewhere, so that a

that need be emphasised here is the noble response to the call
to arms by younger and older Old Boys. Many brave lives
were lost, as an inspection of the Honours Board in the school
will confirm. .

On 25th July, 1914, there passed away the Rev. David
Sidey, D.D., who for 40 years had been intimately assoc1ate’d
with the school from the beginning of the Rev John Campbell’s
regime and even earlier. From 1872 to 1885 he acted as
Honorary Secretary and Treasurer, and from the latter date
until he resigned at the end of 1913 he acted in the same
capacity as the Board’'s paid sec;‘et.ary-treasurer, a record
hardly to be equalled elsewhere. His influence on the school
had been immense. It is no exaggeration to say that he took a
large part in shaping its destiny. _ -

Great credit must be given to Mr Heaton for discovering
that the Education Department had wrongly taken over as a
public endowment the half-acre property at the corner of
Hastings and Tennyson Streets, which was really a private
endowment of the Board. As a result the Department bad to
relinquish its control of this property, but refused to disburse
the revenue it had received for many years.

Apparently strained relations developed between the Board
of Governors and the Headmaster, with the result that his
engagement was terminated at the end of the first term of
1915. Mr Heaton then proceeded to Dannevirke High School to
become its senior science master. One of his former pupils
remarked of him that “a kinder-hearted master never lived”. Tt
seems that his tenderness of heart required the stiffening of a
more iron resolution. His sister. Miss Heaton. carried out
efficiently the duties of matron throushout the period.

Headmastership of Mr W. A. Armour, M.A., M.Sc.
(July, 1915-December, 1927)

Like Mr Polson. Mr Armovur obtained his early schooling
and training as a teacher in Otago, being a pupil of Otago
Boys’ High Schonl. a sraduate of the University of Otago, and
having considerable experience in primary, secondary and
technical teaching. He was for four years on the staff of
Wanganui Collegiate School, succeeding to the position vacated
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by Mr E. W. Andrews when the latter came to Napier. He then
spent two years as first assistant in an Invercargill school,
followed by four years on the staff of Otago Boys’ High School
until his appointment in 1912 to the position of Principal of
Wanganui Technical College. It was rather a strange
coincidence that Mr Armour should again succeed Mr Andrews
at Napier on the death of the latter while holding the position
of acting-headmaster of the Napier Boys’ High School. The
chief inducement offered for the acceptance of this post was
the promise that modern school buildings were soon to be
erected on an entirely new site and that the school was likely
to become one of the largest boarding schools in the Dominion
— a hope that was only partially realised as far ahead as 1926.

The school enrolments during the period 1915-1927 were:

Year Total Roll inec. Junior School & Boarders
1915 ... 157 40 13
1916 ... 179 40 32
1917 .. 202 42 41
1918 ... 215 50 58
1919 ... 239 55 60
1920 ... 255 59 65
1921 ... 273 65 70
1922 . 284 46 63
1923 .. 299 37 67
1924 .. 286 39 69
1925 .. 305 (14) 80
1926 ... 322 (15) 79
1927 .. 326 a7 84

(Note: The Junior School was disestablished in 1924. During
the years 1925-1927 a few junior boarders attended either at
Napier Central School or Te Awa School. These are not
included in the total roll for these three years.)

The members of the senior teaching staff as at July, 1915,
were Messrs W. Kerr, H. H. Ward, C. S. Marshall and C. V.
Freyberg. The junior school masters were Messrs C. S.
Gascoigne and A. J. Manson, while the part-time teachers were
Messrs D. L. Smart (woodwork) and J. R. Richardson (art).
There was no science master, as Mr Heaton had undertaken
that work; but Mr J. Niven, M.A., of the Napier Technical
College, gave part-time instruction until the arrival of Mr H. P.
Revell, M.A.,, from King’s College. A complete list of masters

who served during the period being discussed will be found in
the appendix.
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In taking over office the Headmaster found a far from
happy condition of affairs. The Board of Governors, parents
and citizens of the town all seemed to share a feeling qf
dissatisfaction with the school. They felt that it had lost in
prestige and looked to the new Headmaster to restore”lt to a
place of honour and inculcate a better “esprit de corps”. This,
of course, he at once set himself to accomplish. There were
weaknesses in the teaching staff, a rather low scholastic
standard of attainment, evidences of careless deportment, apd
lack of interest in school activities among too many pgplls,
besides other faults which could not in earlier years be laid to
the charge of pupils of the school. There had also been a sad
depletion in the number of boarders. At the time of his arrival
in July the school year was already well advanced, and so little
real change could be immediately effected. But discipline was
immediately tightened up and plans were made for re-
organisation and alterations to come into. operation in the
following year. The figures just given showing the increase in
roll numbers and in boarders provide ample evidence of the
efficacy of the new regime.

The progress of the War and the doings and movements of
Old Boys on active service were followed as closely as possible.
The pupils eagerly responded to appeals for help in the war
effort, and very soon considerable sums of money were raised
by concerts, displays, etc., to swell the Patriotic funds. Those
masters whose age and physical fitness enabled them to
volunteer for active service were lost to the teaching staff and
had to be replaced. Even then the services of women had to be
called upon to help out in the Junior School. Month by month
additions were made to the Roll of Honour of those on active
service and of those who gave up their lives, Among others the
Headmaster underwent a medical examination, but had to
stand down for a period because of throat trouble; and when at
length he was passed as fit Al, the Department and Board of
Governors intervened to put a veto on enlistment.

Na_turally, while the War lasted, there seemed little chance
of reviving the Old Boys’ Association, which ceased official
activity after 1913; but an effort made in 1917 proved to be
quite successful, and from then on the activities of the
Association throughout Mr Armour’s term of office were
marked by enthusiasm and a wonderful spirit of helpfulness.
The subsidiary bodies, the Old Boys’ Cricket Club and Football
Club, grew in strength, and as is to be expected, the majority
of the younger Old Boys were satisfied to belong to one or
both of these without interesting themselves overmuch in the
Association itself. Yet there were three particular ways in
which the Association proved of tremendous value to the
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school. The first of these was its share in preparing for and
ensuring the unbounded success of the Jubilee Celebrations,
held at Easter, 1922, records of which are contained in the
school  magazine. Secondly, the Association helped
tremendously in compiling the Roll of Honour of the 1914-1918
War, and presented the Honours Boards containing the lists to
the school. In the third place, in the various drives by means
of gala displays, entertainments, bazaars, etc., to raise funds for
the Assembly Hall for the new school and for ground
improvement, the Old Boys’ Association co-operated in a
wonderful manner with the school pupils, parents and staff.
The result was a gain not only in funds but in the creation of
a very fine spirit of co-partnership which was reflected in all
phases of school life.

The small area of the limestone playing ground prevented
any practice there of school games, though some provision for
cricket practice was obtained by grassing a patch in one corner
There was only one tennis court, always in constant use by
day pupils or boarders. By courtesy of the Principal,
opportunity was given for further tennis practice on the Girls’
High School grounds and the playing of matches on Saturday
mornings. But for cricket and football practices and games the
school had to proceed to the public parks. Fortunately,
tramcars travelled regularly from Shakespeare Road near the
school to the southern part of the town, so that those who did
not walk or use bicycles had a ready means of transport to
these grounds. The Recreation Ground ceased to be used for
cricket about 1916. It had ceased to be a football ground before
that date, since Nelson Park and soon after McLean Park, were
available for cricket, football and athletics. Since games had
now become a compulsory part of the curriculum, the time-
table was adjusted so that on Wednesday morning school and
the midday interval were shortened and after one brief
afternoon interval the whole school, including masters,
proceeded for organised games to the public parks. Enthusiasts
also met there at the conclusion of afternoon school on
Tuesdays and Thursdays. This system of regularly controlled
and supervised games, and the compulsory wearing by all
pupils of the regulation school uniform, were strong factors in
instilling a keenness among pupils to do their best for their
school — a keenness also reflected in their classroom work.

The year 1916 was the last in which the triangular football
tournament with Palmerston North and New Plymouth High
Schools was held. After that year individual matches were
played with Gisborne and Palmerston North High Schools,

while jche second fifteen had an annual contest with
Dannevirke High School.
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Swimming had always been a popular sport. For many
years up to about 1916 the annual Swimming Sports had been
held in the swimming pool attached to Mr Vigor Brown’s

estshore residence. Many enjoyable functions were held
there over the years. Now the time had come to make use of
the Municipal Baths on the Parade, where the annual sports
are still held. Interest in life-saving had for long been
established. Ability to swim well and knowledge of this useful
art enabled more than one pupil to save life. Several have
received awards from the Royal Life Saving Society. Early in
1915 John Dighton, now on the staff of Wellington College, was
awarded the Gold Medal of the Society for a gallant attempt at
rescue off the Marine Parade.

Enrolment in the Cadet Company was compulsory for all
boys of the requisite age with the exception of those physically
unfit or with conscientious scruples. The general adoption of
the school uniform eliminated the necessity of turning out in
khaki, though this was done when required. The cadet
tradition, built up from the days of Mr Wood, ensured a high
standard of training and efficiency. Owing to the restricted
playground area, route marches through the town were often
held, the deportment of the cadets receiving very favourable
comment and creating an interest in the school. Shooting
practices were held on the school range, on the Tutaekuri flat,
and later on the sea front. As the school roll increased it was
possible to create a second company, that being the cadet
strength at the end of 1927.

Of the various military camps organised during this period
the two most noteworthy and enjoyable were those in which
the whole cadet formation went under canvas on Farndon Park
ilrézlgecember, 1920, and on the new school grounds in December,

Under improved staffing regulations the school was able to
emp}oy part-time teachers for such subjects as woodwork, art,
music and physical training. The most successful of these were
Mr F. Sherning, who effected wonders in improving the
deportment and physique of pupils, and Mr Roy Spackman,
under whose able tuition many day pupils as well as boarders
were encouraged to learn to play the piano, violin, and other
instruments. The Glee Club was established, and also a School
Orchestra, so it became customary to hold an annual concert in
the theatre or a public hall, and frequent entertainments in the
gymnasium. Mr Sherning, too, was responsible for the re-
introduction of Boxing, a pastime very popular among the
pupils.

Napier, along with other parts of the Dominion, was visited
towards the end of 1918 by a very severe epidemic of
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pneumonic influenza. Many considered that disease germs were
brought into the country from European countries stricken by
the War. Instructions were issued early in November for all
schools immediately to be closed for the year. The usual year-
end examinations such as University Entrance (Matriculation)
were postponed until 21st January, 1919. The epidemic caused
devastation in the town and for a week or two brought
ordinary business almost to a standstill. Many of those. who
remember this crisis had an anxious and trying experience
while participating in emergency measures to help the sick and
dying. Among those to whom this visitation proved fatal was
Charles Stanley Marshall, M.A., a young resident master who
died in the emergency hospital, Burlington Roa;ld, on 28'th
November. He had apparently contracted the disease while
returning from Christchurch, where he had gone to attend his
mother’s funeral. He was a gifted scholar, a double first class
honoursman, and a Fellow of the Economic Society of England.

One of the best remembered events of those years was the
parade of the whole school at Nelson Park on the occasion of
the visit to Napier on 4th May, 1920, of His Royal Highness the
Prince of Wales, who deviated from the set programme by
actually traversing the ranks of the school and saying to the
Headmaster a word of praise on the fine physique and
deportment of the boys.

It was a great misfortune that the Junior School, which
was entirely self-supporting, had to be disestablished at the end
of 1924. There were two main reasons for this decision. One
was that as the Senior School grew in numbers and was
governed by the Education Department’s secondary school
regulations, the junior department (really a private school)
could not occupy classrooms required by senior pupils. An
attempt was made to meet the situation by constructing =
classroom at the rear of the Gymnasium, convertible when
required to a stage; by using a small detached building, and for
a time even by using the carpentry workshop. The other
reason was the difficulty in obtaining qualified primary
teachers, since adequate salaries could not be paid and since
teachers here employed could not belong to the Teachers’
Superannuation Scheme or get advances in grading. Yet the
Junior School at its best was an excellent preparatory
department giving to the school many of its brightest and most
loyal pupils and helping to swell the number of boarders.
Today it is rather unusual for a pupil to remain at school
above five or six years; but while the Junior School flourished
the roll contained pupils with as much as nine and in one case
of eleven years of attendance. Thus the contribution to school
spirit and “esprit de corps” was immense.

38



The practice of holding a Parents’ Afternoon was early
instituted by the Headmaster, and the wonderful assistance
rendered by parents on all occasions, especially during the time
of the Jubilee celebrations of Easter, 1922, induced him to
suggest the formation of a Parents’ League or Association. The
suggestion was adopted at a social evening held on 6th October,
1922, at which about 140 parents, as well as many Old Boys
and members of the teaching staff, were present. Mr Charles
Douglas was the first President of the League. The following
resolution was adopted:— “Inter alia, the objects of the League
are to create among parents a greater interest in all school
activities, to bring staff and parents into friendly contact, to
enable parents as an organised body to make suggestions for
general improvement in school affairs, to assist in the
establishment of the new school, laying out of grounds, etc.,
and to help in creating a greater civic interest in the school”.
This was the first Parents’ Association formed in any primary
or post-primary school in the Dominion, and from its
foundation up to the present day it has been a most helpful
organisation. No praise is too high for the help rendered by
this body at the time of the change-over to the new school.

_ No school record, however halting and incomplete, could
fail to make mention of Joseph Patrick Lynam, who
commenced duties as caretaker on 23rd December, 1887, and
carried on until March, 1921. A man beloved by boys and
masters alike, his cheery manner and kindly disposition,
combined with a high degree of efficiency, made him an
important figure in school life. When he had completed 31
years of service, the Old Boys’ Association presented him with
a purse of £31, and at the farewell gathering held in the
Gymnasium four years later, a further presentation was made
to mark his retirement after 35 years of faithful service. He
died on 24th March, 1924.

There was an ever-increasing enrolment of pupils whose
hpmgs were situated outside the town. Boys from the Taradale
district often travelled by bicycle or by private conveyances
until a regular bus service was instituted, and a similar remark
may apply to pupils from Petane or Bay View. But the
majority of such pupils travelled by train from Hastings and
intermediate stations such as Clive, these forming quite an
appreciable proportion of the school roll.

. In 1915 there were about 13 train boys. The number
Increased to 31 in 1919. By 1923 it was 46, and during 1926 and
1927 nearly 70 boys traveiled to school by train. When the new
schoo} was built, the Railway Department arranged for a
stopping place called Te Awa siding, quite near the new
grounds, so that pupils arrived at the school about 8.30am.
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These pupils identified themselves very fully with all school
activities, many becoming very prominent in the football and
cricket teams, while not a few excelled in the clagsroom. Boys
from Hastings and district also formed an appreciable part of
the boarding department. Hastings, of course, was founded
much later than Napier, not being formed into a borough until
1886. Hence the establishment of a secondary school there was
not effected until about 1926, Napier being considered
sufficiently accessible to provide all needed facilities for post-
primary education. It may be mentioned that even today quite
a number of boys attend from Clive and Hastings, while the

number from Taradale and Bay View has considerably
increased.

In the next period of the school’s history, amalgamation
was effected with the Napier Technical College. But some time
before 1920 this amalgamation might have, and could have
been brought about. There was then a period when the rival
institution was at a low ebb. A meeting was convened of a
number of people supposed to be experts in education, among
these even a Mormon teacher from America. Neither the
Headmaster, who had successfully launched and controlled a
Technical College for over three years, nor any member of the
High School Board, was invited. Certain it is that if the
Headmaster, a believer in multilateral school courses, had had
an opportunity of presenting his views, he would have
suggested amalgamation as the solution and also demonstrated
how amalgamation could proceed. However, it was fortunate
that the services of a good Director were secured and thus the

crisis passed, though an unpleasant and often foolish jealousy
persisted.

An enumeration of members of the staff as it was in the
middle of 1915 has been given. The following composed the
teaching staff during the year 1927:— Messrs E. S. West, MLA.,
M. Alexander, M.Sc., W. B. Harwood, B.A., followed by W. B.
Stewart, B.Sc., C. J. Bagley, B.A., R. de V. Worker, M.A., F. F.
Cameron, M.A., M. F. Woodward M.A., R. H. Milburn, B.A., G
R. Haldane, B.Com., L. Russell, B.A., followed by J. Claridge,
B.Ag., and E. Murphy. Messrs Milburn and Haldane were the
resident masters. Also the following part-time teachers:—
Messrs C. R. Spackman (music), F. Sherning (physical
training), and W. J. Rush, (art). Mr H. H. Ward, M.A., who
was identified with the school for a long number of years from
1913, resigned in 1925 to become Principal of Hikurangi
College. A master who had an even longer association was Mr
Walter Kerr, M.A., who joined the staff in 1905 and served as
mathematics master until he retired in 1923. Both of these men
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were revered masters and both are alive today, Mr Ward living
in Lower Hutt and Mr Kerr in Whangarei.

Those masters who were at the old school on the hill and
are still on the teaching staff of the present school are Messrs
E. S. West, M.A. (First Assistant), M. Alexander, M.Sc. (Head
of the Mathematics Department), C. J. Bagley, B.A. (Modern
Language Department), and R. H. Milburn, B.A. (Senior
Football Coach).

The concluding portion of the survey of this period is
concerned with the greatest event since its establishment in the
history of the school, viz., preparation for abandonment of the
cld school, selection of a new site, plans for news buildings, and
finally occupation of the new premises. From time to time,
from 1916 to 1924, extensions and alterations were made to
both the school and the hostel to accommodate the ever-
growing number of occupants. Classes were being held in no
less than four detached buildings, some of them not much
better than sheds, and there seemed to be no further possibility
of adding to Scinde House, occupied by the boarders. Even
visiting Ministers of Education had to admit that the school
buildings were probably the most decrepit in the Dominion.

In 1916 negotiations began with the Napier Harbour Board
to secure a site. The first area offered was at what was called
Logan Park, then but not now a swampy piece of land lying to
the left of the road to Taradale, approximately opposite the
Taupo Road turn-off. It would today probably be called part of
the Marewa Block. At the time of its inspection the area was
decidedly swampy, covered with salt weed, and so was deemed
quite unsuitable for school purposes. The earthquake of 1931
produced a complete change, so that today many would
consider this a more suitable location than the present one. It
must also be remembered that the site eventually chosen was
not far from the terminus of the tramcar route in Napier
South, and there was always the prospect of the extension of
the service right to Ellison Street. There were then no similar
travelling facilities in the direction of Logan Park.

The slow progress of the first great World War put a stop
to any further plans for the removal of the school. Everything
must wait till it could be brought to a successful conclusion,
and rightly so.

About 1920 the Board of Governors again approached the
Napier Harbour Board with an appeal for a site suitable for a
modern school. The ensuing negotiations were long and tedious.
nor were they marked by any great generosity on the part of
the latter body, which took the attitude that a special favour
was being asked for Napier, forgetting that the Boys’ High
School was the principal secondary school for the whole
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province. The site eventually secured was further from the
town than was desirable. The Governors wanted the site
abutting on Ellison Street; but the Harbour Board decided to
retain the frontages for residences, while in some mysterious
way the Hawke’s Bay Education Board was given priority over
the High School Board by securing the area on which the Te
Awa primary school now stands. However, this tedious process

Napier from site of present school during reclamation

of negotiations being at last settled, the way was clear for the

overnors to arrange for building plans and to approach the
Goyernmept for a grant. The architect employed drew plans
which, while imposing, were obviously too costly and had to be
modified, Considering that during the whole time of existence
of the school on the hill the Governors had from their own
resources found nearly all the money required for buildings,
and that even the grounds had been given by the Provincial
Council, the grant finally made by the Government was far
from. generous. In fact it was about £20,000 short of
réquirements. Hence the plans as finally approved. while
having some very commendable features, failed to produce in
the main school building those architectural and structural
featurgs whlch would have made it both more serviceable and
more imposing.

To find the money necessary to build the Hostel, which
wh_en_ completed was a much more imposing and attractive
bqlldlng than the school itself, the Board was compelled to
raise a loan of £15,000 from the Public Trustee on the security
of the half-acre of land at the corner of Hastings and Tennyson
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Streets and of those buildings thereon owned by the Board,
viz., the premises occupied by Burts Ltd., Beck’s Pharmacy
Ltd., and Deighton’s Ltd. The annual revenue from this corner
was about £1100. The erection of the buildings commenced on
22nd September, 1924, when the Foundation Stone was laid by
the Minister of Education, Sir James Parr. The day and
boarding school were in occupation on 1st June, 1926. The fine
Assembly Hall, later destroyed by the earthquake, was not
ready until the beginning of 1927.

Scinde House before the 1931 Earthquake

At a ceremony arranged for the laying of the Foundation
Stone, the Chairman, Mr W. Dinwiddie, stated that the
Government had been pleased to make a grant of £33,500 for
the school. There were further small Government grants
during the construction period, some of these being augmented
by the Board from its own resources. The fact that the Board
did not intend to sell the old site of 31 acres on the hill, but to
add it and some of the buildings to the Girls’ High School
demesne, led to the adoption of a somewhat more generous
attitude by a Government considered to be rather hard-hearted.
Here it should be remembered that the Hon. Mr R. A. Wright,
who followed Sir James Parr. was put into office to reduce
expenditure on education, and so unfortunately construction
was proceeding during a period of retrenchment. At the official
opening of the new school on 5th July, 1926, the Hon. Mr R. A.
Wright stated that the buildings had cost £62,000, with an
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Assembly Hall still to be erected and the land to be purchased.
A generous bequest from the Rathbone estate of £1250, and a
sum of like amount or more in sight from efforts made by
pupils, staff, old boys and parents, together with a promise of
generous Government subsidy, enabled the construction of the
Assembly Hall to proceed. It was occupied at the beginning of
1927, about six months after the completion of the school itself.
From the above figures a fairly accurate detailed estimate of
building costs can be arrived at:

School Building (brick) £24,000
Caretaker’s Cottage (wood) 1000
Dining Block (wood) 6250
Assembly Hall (brick) 6500
Laundry (wood) 800

£61,300

The Assembly Hall destroyed by the 1931 Earthquake

Extras, ete., would bring the amount up to the sum of £62,000
mentioned by the Minister; but in addition to all this aboul
£1650 was spent on drainage and sewerage and £1100 on water

supply, electric light, etc., so that the actual sum total was
about £65,000.

The site of 34 acres was leased from the Napier Harbour
Board at a rental of £520 per annum, the Board having the
right to purchase the freehold on giving three months’ notice
of its intention to do so. The purchase price was fixed
approximately at £10,410.
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The school block was built so as to form three sides of a
quadrangle. Portion of the back of this quadrangle was occu-
pied by the front portion of the Assembly Hall, the facade of
which was lofty, rising to two stories. This arrangement left
room for further additions when required, and when the whole
scheme is completed, it is hoped that all along the back of the
Quadrangle will be added a two-storey block making provision
on the first floor for the following:— New frontage for As-
sembly Hall, art, visual education, biology, reference library (if
not otherwise provided), and additional classrooms. It is to be
hoped that all or nearly all the ground floor or basement will be
arranged to provide dressing rooms for games, store room, shelter
and recreation rooms, prefects’ room, armoury, etc. The future
building plan also envisages the erection of a gymnasium, ex-
cavation of a swimming pool, a sports pavilion, and perhaps a
separate library building.

A tremendous amount of labour and a considerable sum of
money were expended in bringing the new grounds from their
rough state to their present condition. The work included le-
velling, fencing, tree-planting, sowing in grass, making of paths
and roadways, and in fact all those operations required to
convert a virgin area of land into a school demesne. All
members of staff, and more especially the Headmaster, resi-
dent masters, and boarders threw themselves heartily into this
work and so hastened the progress of development. The
Parents’ League and Old Boys’ Association also rendered va-
luable service.

The new hostel and grounds, but not the school itself,
received their baptism on 4th July, 1927, when, following a
period of heavy rain and storm, a carelessly left gap in the
river stop-bank higher up the Tutaekuri River allowed a diver-
sion of flood water to enter a dredging channel and overflow
on to nearly all the grounds of the school. This flood was an
attack from the rear, so to speak, as the Tutaekuri River flow-
ing at the west of the school was able to cope with the water
coming down its channel, while the flood water approached the
school on the east or seaward side, that is, the side remote
from the riverbed. The actual damage caused was more appar-
ent than real. The pupils gained by having a few days’ holiday,
while the boarders, being marooned, were able to establish a
record, still existing, of all being given their breakfast in bed
on Sunday morning, 7th July.

At the beginning of the third term, 1927, Mr Armour re-
ceived notification of his appointment to the position of Head-
master of Wellington College, and resigned his position at
Napier at the end of that year after a tenure of office of 12}
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years. Having spent 15 years as Headmaster at Wellington Col-
lege, he has now retired to live in Napier. During the whole
period of his connection with the school Mrs Armour acted as
Matron.

CONCLUSION TO PART 1

This chronicle is brought to a conclusion with an expres-
sion of gratitude from Masters and Old Boys to men belonging
to former school generations who identified themselves inti-
mately with the growth and development of the school.

In this category is included the name of Dr T. C. Moore, a
man of scholarship and wide interest in education, who for a
long period of years, as a member and chairman of the Board
of Governors, guided the fortunes of the school with great
understanding and ability. He was always accessible tc
members of the teaching staff, whom he helped in numberless
ways; while as the school medical officer, he became well
known to the pupils and especially to the boarders, whom he
cared for like a fond parent.

Then, on his retirement from office, the school was again
fortunate in having as the Chairman of the Board of Gover-
nors the late Mr William Dinwiddie, who was likewise a man
of culture and sympathetic understanding, deeply interested in
promoting the true spirit of education. To men like these and
to their successors. Mr Peter Ashcroft and Mr J. H. Edmund-
son, the school is under a deep debt of gratitude.

While it may appear invidious to make special mention of
any from among so many of those who have served the school
as Governors, it will be freely conceded that a tribute of praise
should be paid to the Rev. J. A. Asher and Mr A. Hobson for
lengthy periods of unselfish service, and to Messrs H. E.
Edgley and J. W. Sandtmann for their great work not only on
the Board but also as past Presidents of the Parents’ League;
and to Mr J. I. Cato, who was untiring in his efforts to bring
the new school building programme to fruition and to initiate
the school farm scheme. This reference to James I. Cato calls
to mind the fact that with his two brothers, Claude W. and
William G., he joined the school at the beginning of 1873,
followed soon after by two more brothers, Charles H. and
Horace B. All were great athletes as well as good scholars,
Claude being Dux on three occasions, while Charles repre-
sented the Province in cricket and also played against Austra-
lian and English teams. Actually the first Dux of the school
was James Brandon, son of the then manager of the Bank of
New Zealand, in the year before Claude Cato achieved that
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honour. It has hitherto been customary to consider C. W. Cato
the first Dux of the school.

Among other families of older school generations who de-
veloped a very close connection with the school may be in-
stanced the following, without by any means exahausting the
list of brothers:— Bennett, Beatson, Bisson, Blythe, Bogle, Corn-
ford, Clark, Drummond, Garry, Goulding, Glendinning, Hal-
lett, Holt, Hindmarsh, Humphries, Harston, Hovell, Hannah,
Kennedy, Kerr, Kettle, McKinnon, McLernon, Macfarlane,
Natusch, Ormond, Prime, Richardson, Ringland, Sainsbury,
Sim, Simcox, Tod, Twigg, Spencer, Wilkie, Whyte, Wood,
Wilson.

It would not be difficult to give an enumeration of Old
Boys who in comparatively recent years have given ardent
support to the Old Boys’ Association; but of those whose work
in this direction spread over many past school generations has
been of memorable quality, special mention must be made of
C. E. Fox, G. F. Morley, T. H. Ringland and H. S. Gilberd. Of
those belonging to a later generation than these four, the one
who by general acclaim is regarded as the staunchest and most
continuous worker for the Association is W. J. O’Connell.

“Forty years on, growing older and older,
Shorter of wind, as in memory long,
Feeble of foot, and rheumatic of shoulder,
What will it help you that once you were strong?
God gave us bases to guard or beleaguer,
Games to play out, whether earnest or fun;
Fights for the fearless, and goals for the eager,
Twenty, and thirty, and forty years on!”

W. A. ARMOUR.
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PART 2

THE PERIOD 1928 - 1947

When Mr Armour left in December, 1927, to assume the
Headmastership of Wellington College, Mr W. T. Foster, M.A.
(N.Z.), B. Litt. (Oxon), who had for two years been an Inspector
of Secondary Schools, was appointed to j;ake over the
reins of office. Keen rivalry between the High School ar§d
the Technical College made it essential to strain every nerve in
order to maintain the high standard of efficiency set up by Mr
Armour both in work and in play. In sport, more e.spe.ma!ly in
Rugby football, the school more than held its own in its inter-
school fixtures, while in 1930 a new record was established
when two University scholarships were gained in the one year.

The Earthquake of 1931

Then a sudden disastrous change came over the scene. Qn
the opening day, 3rd February, 1931, most of Napier was laid
in ruins by the worst earthquake in its history. This horrible
catastrophe destroyed our beautiful Assembly Hall. wrecked
the Hostel so badly that most of it had to be demolished, and
rendered the School itself uninhabitable until repairs could be
effected. Owing to the fact that even worse disaster had
overtaken both the Technical College and the Girls’ High
School (for their two quite new schools. as yet unoccupied,
were completely ruined), the Department decided that as many
pupils and teachers as possible should be transferred to other
secondary and technical schools, till the situation became clea-
rer and facilities for post-primary education in the town could
be re-established. However, certain circumstances which need
not be detailed caused a change of plan, and it was decided
that the schools should re-open as soon as possible.

In consequence of this, temporary arrangemests were
made for accommodation, heating and sanitation; the pupils
who had been transferred were informed of the change of
plan; and efforts were made to get them to return to Napier.
In spite of the great cataclysm, therefore, school was re-opene-l
on 9th March, first in a room lent by Te Awa School, and then
in two portable rooms which had been transferred for the
purpose from the Girls’ High School. The opening day saw
only a handful of boys and two members of the staff appear.
Numbers steadily increased, however, with the result that more
teachers were recalled, and extra accommodation was required.
As it was not considered advisable to use the brick school, tents
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had to be provided. When the end of the term came, nearly 40
boys were on the roll, including about 20 boaders. Of the
latter, the majority were housed in the Headmaster’s residence,
while the remainder occupied part of the spacious dining-hall
which, because of its wooden structure, had suffered little from
the earthquake.

Amalgamation With Technical College

Meanwhile the Education Department had decided that, as
local conditions had made it impossible and unnecessary to
rebuild all three post-primary schools in Napier, the Technical
College should be disestablished and its pupils sent to the High
Schools. As a result of this amalgamation, the second term
opened with about 250 pupils, of whom 80 came from the Tech-
nical College. Accommodation was still a serious problem. It was
not considered wise to use, in the winter term, tents pitched on
the grass. The Assembly Hall site was therefore cleared and more
tents were pitched on the floor which, though slightly curvgd,
Was quite fit for the purpose. Doubtless some of the boarders, like
the Headmaster, will have vivid recollections of midnight efforts
during a gale to anchor the tents safely and prevent them
from being ripped to pieces and blown away.

However, these and other difficulties were surmounted.
Shortage of staff and lack of accommodation made it very
difficult to maintain a good standard of work. But a cheerful
acceptance of the conditions, encouraged by very sympathetic
treatment at the hands of the Education Department, and
ready co-operation among all members of the staff, made
the task of organisation and administration much easier than
would otherwise have been the case. Messrs. Olphert, McGhee,
Wood, Lambert and Brown, who came from the Technical Col-
lgge staff, showed a pleasing eagerness to make the amalgama-
tion a success. The new Board of Governors, reconstituted by
special Act of Parliament, did its utmost to further the inter-
ests of the pupils. Technical classes in engineering and wood-
work were still held in the old Technical workshops, while the
portable rooms which served as our first post-earthquake ac-
commodation were turned into science laboratories, Perhaps the
most outstanding event was the rapid construction of eight
temporary classrooms in the Quadrangle. The Board’s staff did
a wonderful job in this connection, the whole building being
erected in a few days. It was this happy spirit of determination
and co-operation which enabled the school not only to fulfil
nearly all its inter-school fixtures but also to achieve a fair
measure of success in the public examinations of 1931.
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Meanwhile the reconditioning of the old brick school prOE
ceeded apace. The masters and boys of this period will n?.
forget the constant banging of hammers and the strident grat-
ing of electric drills which made it far from easy to con-
centrate on the work of the classroom. Nor can one erase from
the memory the frequent tremors which on some occasions
made the pupils leap to safety through the windows of the
temporary classrooms. However, at long last the job was com-
pleted, the brick building was re-occupied, the temporary class-
rooms were demolished, and above all, funds were a\{allz}ble to
provide a spacious assembly hall which, though still incom-
plete, has been an inestimable boon in the subsequent activities
of the school.

A Combined School

But the earthquake did more than merely disturb the
normal routine of the school: it almost completely changed the
character of the institution. Though competition with the Tech-
nical College had caused some attempt to widen the curriculum
and to provide something in the way of metal craft work and
agriculture for pupils of the non-academic type, these features
of the curriculum, it must be conceded, held a very minor
place; and until 1931 the school was of the normal secondary
type. With the amalgamation came a complete engineering and
trade course, a complete commercial course including engineer-
ing and trades course, a complete commercial course including
bookkeeping, typing and shorthand, and finally an agricultu.ral
course which aimed at developing a farm on which to provide
the practice and base the theory of the Dominion’s basic in-
dustry. By 1933 a splendid Technical Block had been built
providing facilities for engineering, technical electricitiy, car-
pentry, plumbing, motor engineering, and technical drawing. A
modest beginning had already been made in developing a farm
(of which more later). In addition, a wing of the old brick
hostel was fully equipped as an art room, a well-qualified art
master was appointed, and the school was in a position to deal
with most aspects of the general education to be enforced later
as a result of the complete remodelling of the curriculum by
the Consuultative Committee set up by the Minister of Educa-
tion in 1940. The result is that the school is now a multiple-
course institution aiming at the provision of every type of
education likely to be required by the post-primary children in
a large provincial centre. It is officially known as a Combined
School, as, like Nelson and New Plymouth, Napier was com-
pelled by circumstances to amalgamate under one roof the
hitherto separate secondary and technical institutions.
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The School Farm

The development of the School Farm is a matter that
demands more than passing notice. Its history is a very
chequered one indeed. As the result of his experience as an
Inspector of Secondary Schools including District High Schools,
the Headmaster had long been convinced, rightly or wrongly,
that a thorough training in agriculture could not be given
without a farm to provide the basis of the work. The Board
then adopted his suggestion that a rough, unused paddock
behind the Hostel should be brought into use as grazing for
cows. This was at least a start. It was again the earthquake
which rendered possible an extension of such a modest
beginning. Harbour Board lands adjoining the school had
hitherto been subject to heavy flooding, as was seen in 1926
when even the school grounds were covered with flood waters
from the Tutaekuri River, and again in 1928 when a similar
disaster was only just averted by strenuous midnight efforts to
bolster up the stop-bank and lake outlet with sandbags. The
uplift of the land by the earthquake and the subsequent
diversion of the river removed all such threats, and with the
consent of the Hon. Mr Atmore, then Minister of Education,
the Board of Governors negotiated with the Harbour Board for
the lease of certain sections of the Awatoto block adjacent to
the school. Over 50 acres were thus acquired in the first
Instance. This area was developed from the rough into good
pasture for sheep. Unfortunately, when the pastures were
ready for use, the Board found itself unable to provide funds
for the purchase of sheep. The slump of that period was at its
worst, a new Minister of Education was in office, and it was
difficult to get a sympathetic hearing for requests for financial
aid. In fairness to the Department, it must be admitted that its
experience with other school farms had not been particularly
happy, and its misgivings about further commitments had at
least some reasonable foundations. However, a personal canvass
of the farming community from Napier to